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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Unaudited Financial Statements
THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions, except for earnings per share)
(Unaudited)

2019

Net sales

$

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expense
Research and development expense
Amortization of intangibles
Operating income
Interest expense
Other income, net
Income before income taxes

2018

628.1
209.6

$

590.0
219.1

418.5
250.0
21.0
36.6

370.9
225.9
18.8
36.0

110.9
18.2
1.1

90.2
18.4
3.0

93.8
(9.4)

74.8
197.3

(Benefit) provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)

$

103.2

$

(122.5)

Earnings (loss) per share - basic

$

2.09

$

(2.50)

Earnings (loss) per share - diluted

$

2.07

$

(2.50)

Number of shares used to compute earnings (loss) per share:
Basic

49.3

48.9

Diluted

49.9

48.9

See accompanying notes.
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THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

2019

Net income (loss)

2018

$

103.2

$

135.9

Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax

$

32.7

Comprehensive income (loss)
See accompanying notes.
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(122.5)
102.3

$

(20.2)

THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets
(In millions)
(Unaudited)
January 31, 2019

October 31, 2018

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $19.7 at January 31, 2019 and
$19.0 at October 31, 2018
Inventories
Prepaid expense and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Goodwill
Other intangibles, net
Deferred tax assets
Other assets

146.6

$

77.7

389.7
486.2
170.5

374.7
468.8
169.7

1,193.0

1,090.9

2,009.3
985.5

1,930.3
954.3

1,023.8

976.0

2,449.3
1,514.1
55.2
63.2

2,392.1
1,521.3
58.4
74.1

$

6,298.6

$

6,112.8

$

445.5
129.6
75.9
287.6

$

37.1
146.4
94.0
259.0

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Employee compensation and benefits
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term tax payable
Accrued pension liability and other
Total liabilities

938.6

536.5

1,686.9
34.6
124.8
88.2

1,985.7
31.0
141.5
110.3

2,873.1

2,805.0

—

—

Contingencies (see Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, 10 cents par value, shares authorized: 1.0; zero shares issued or outstanding
Common stock, 10 cents par value, shares authorized: 120.0; issued 52.9 at January 31, 2019 and
52.8 at October 31, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Treasury stock at cost: 3.6 shares at January 31, 2019 and 3.6 shares at October 31, 2018
Noncontrolling interests
Stockholders’ equity
$
See accompanying notes.
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5.3
1,574.8
(398.0)
2,664.4
(421.2)
0.2

5.3
1,572.1
(430.7)
2,576.0
(415.1)
0.2

3,425.5

3,307.8

6,298.6

$

6,112.8

Table of Contents
THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Condensed Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Common Shares
(In millions)

Shares

Balance at November 1, 2017

48.8

Amount
$

Treasury Stock
Shares

4.9

3.6

Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock

(375.3)

$ 2,434.2

$ (415.1)

0.3

$ 1,526.7

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

Other comprehensive income, net of
tax

—

—

—

—

—

102.3

Issuance of common stock for stock
plans, net

(10.6)

(122.5)

Noncontrolling
Interests
$

0.1

Total
Stockholders'
Equity
$

3,175.8

—

—

(122.5)

—

—

—

102.3
(10.5)

0.2

0.1

—

—

—

—

—

—

Dividends on common stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1.4)

—

—

(1.4)

Share-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

12.7

—

—

—

—

12.7

Balance at January 31, 2018

49.0

$

5.0

3.6

$

0.3

$ 1,528.8

$

(273.0)

$ 2,310.3

$ (415.1)

$

0.1

$

3,156.4

Balance at November 1, 2018

49.2

$

$

$

(430.7)

$ 2,576.0

$ (415.1)

$

0.2

$

3,307.8

5.0

3.6

0.3

$ 1,572.1

Net income

—

—

—

—

—

—

103.2

—

—

103.2

Other comprehensive income, net of
tax

—

—

—

—

—

32.7

—

—

—

32.7

Issuance of common stock for stock
plans, net

0.1

—

—

—

(9.0)

—

—

—

—

(9.0)

Treasury stock repurchase

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(6.1)

—

(6.1)

Dividends on common stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1.5)

—

—

(1.5)

Share-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

11.7

—

—

—

—

11.7

ASU 2016-16 adoption

(1)

Balance at January 31, 2019

—
49.3

$

—

—

5.0

3.6

$

—

—

0.3

$ 1,574.8

—
$

(398.0)

(13.3)
$ 2,664.4

—
$ (421.2)

—
$

0.2

(13.3)
$

3,425.5

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
We adopted ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. Refer to “Note 1. General" for
further information.
(1)
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THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions)
(Unaudited)
2019

2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization
Increase in operating capital
Other non-cash items
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

103.2
68.8
(53.3)
(16.9)

$

101.8

(122.5)
66.6
(177.0)
259.1
26.2

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions of businesses and assets, net of cash acquired, and other
Net cash used in investing activities

(79.2)
(50.0)

(51.4)
(1,193.2)

(129.2)

(1,244.6)

261.8
(560.8)
407.5
(9.0)
(6.1)
(0.2)

1,672.8
(445.8)
4.8
(10.5)
—
(3.9)

93.2
0.9

1,217.4
3.9

66.7
80.2

2.9
88.8

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Net proceeds from short-term debt
Net payments related to share-based compensation awards
Repurchase of common stock
Debt acquisition costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

$

146.9

$

91.7

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash included in other current assets (1)

$

146.6
0.3

$

91.4
0.3

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$

146.9

$

91.7

Reconciliation of cash flow information:

We adopted ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. Amounts included in restricted cash represent those
required to be set aside by a financial arrangement.
(1)

See accompanying notes.
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THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Note 1. General
The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated condensed financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the audited
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Cooper Companies, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) and related notes as contained in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018. The unaudited interim financial statements include all adjustments (consisting only
of normal recurring adjustments) and accruals necessary in the judgment of management for a fair statement of the results for the periods presented. Readers
should not assume that the results reported here either indicate or guarantee future performance. The terms "the Company", "we", "us", and "our" are used to
refer collectively to the Cooper Companies, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted
In March 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits
(Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost. The ASU requires an entity to
disaggregate the service cost component from the other components of net benefit cost. The service cost component is now presented in the same income
statement line as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period and the other components of net
benefit costs are presented separately as other income/expense below operating income. The Company adopted this guidance on November 1, 2018, and it
did not have a material impact on the Company’s reported financial results.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory, which requires entities to
recognize the income tax consequences on an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs. The ASU changes the timing of
the recognition of the income tax consequences of non-inventory transfers which under current guidance defers the income tax consequences until the asset
is sold to an outside party or otherwise recognized. The guidance for the amendments of ASU 2016-16 requires companies to apply a modified retrospective
approach with a cumulative catch-up adjustment to opening retained earnings in the period of adoption. The Company adopted ASU 2016-16 in the first
quarter of fiscal 2019 on a modified retrospective basis. The Company recorded the cumulative effect of the change as a decrease to retained earnings of
approximately $13.3 million. The cumulative effect adjustment represents the recognition of unrecognized income tax effects from intra-entity transfers of
assets other than inventory that occurred prior to the date of adoption.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The ASU requires revenue recognition to depict the
transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The amendments in the ASU can be applied either retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or alternatively, the modified
retrospective transition method whereby the company recognizes the cumulative effect of initially applying the guidance as an opening balance sheet
adjustment to equity in the period of initial application. This alternative approach must be supplemented by additional disclosures.
We adopted ASU 2014-09 on November 1, 2018, using the modified retrospective transition method. We did not recognize any cumulative effect of initially
applying the new revenue standard as an adjustment to our opening balance of retained earnings due to its immaterial impact. The comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods. There was no material impact of ASC 606 to our
financial statements during the three months ended January 31, 2019. We do not expect the adoption of the new revenue standard to have a material impact
to our net income on an ongoing basis.
The Company applies the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606-10 or ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and all
related appropriate guidance. The Company recognizes revenue under the core principle to depict the transfer of control to the Company’s customers in an
amount reflecting the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled. In order to achieve that core principle, the Company applies the following
five step approach: (1) identify the contract with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4)
allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in
8

THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied. For a complete discussion of accounting for net product revenue, see Note
2. Revenue Recognition.
Accounting Pronouncements Issued Not Yet Adopted
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808), Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606.
This guidance amended ASC 808 and ASC 606 to clarify that transactions in a collaborative arrangement should be accounted for under ASC 606 when the
counterparty is a customer for a distinct good or service (i.e., unit of account). The amendments preclude an entity from presenting consideration from a
transaction in a collaborative arrangement as revenue from contracts with customers if the counterparty is not a customer for that transaction. We are currently
evaluating the impact of ASU 2018-18 which is effective for the Company in our fiscal year and interim periods beginning on November 1, 2020.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other - Internal Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract. This guidance requires companies to apply the internal-use
software guidance in ASC 350-40 to implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract to determine whether to capitalize
certain implementation costs or expense them as incurred. We are currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2018-15 which is effective for the Company in our
fiscal year and interim periods beginning on November 1, 2020.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU 2016-02 requires that a lessee recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from
operating leases. A lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use
(ROU) asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. For leases with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is permitted to make an
accounting policy election by class of underlying asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. In transition, lessees and lessors are required to
recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU
2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases and ASU 2018-11, Leases Topic 842 Target improvements, which provides an additional (and
optional) transition method whereby the new lease standard is applied at the adoption date and recognized as an adjustment to retained earnings. This
standard is effective for the Company in our fiscal year and interim periods beginning on November 1, 2019.
We anticipate this standard to have a material impact on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and related disclosures due to the recognition of ROU assets and
lease liabilities for operating leases. However, we do not expect adoption to have a material impact on our Consolidated Income Statements. We are
continuing to assess and evaluate the potential impacts of the standard as well as the election of transition method and certain practical expedients available
within the ASU. We are in the process of documenting and analyzing our lease contracts, assessment of business processes and controls, selecting a system
solution and completing our analysis of information necessary to determine the impact to the consolidated financial statements.
Accounts Receivable Factoring Program
We may factor certain designated trade receivables with one or more third party financial institutions pursuant to a factoring agreement. These are nonrecourse factoring arrangements to assist us in managing operating cash flow and meet the requirements to be accounted for as sales in accordance with the
“Transfers and Servicing” guidance in ASC 860, where the Company’s continuing involvement subsequent to the transfer is limited to providing certain
servicing and collection actions on behalf of the purchasers of the designated trade receivables. Proceeds from amounts factored by the Company are
recorded as an increase to cash and a reduction to accounts receivable outstanding in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. Cash flows attributable to
factoring are reflected as cash flows from operating activities in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Factoring fees associated with the
sale of factored receivables for the three months ended January 31, 2019 were $0.4 million and were minimal for the three months ended January 31, 2018.
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THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Note 2. Revenue Recognition
Product Revenue, Net
The Company sells its products principally to a limited number of distributors, group purchasing organizations, eye care or health care professionals
including independent practices, corporate retailers, hospitals and clinics or authorized resellers (collectively, its Customers). These Customers subsequently
resell the Company’s products to eye care or health care providers and patients. In addition to product supply and distribution agreements with Customers,
the Company enters into arrangements with health care providers and payors that provide for government-mandated and/or privately-negotiated rebates,
chargebacks and discounts with respect to the purchase of the Company’s products. The Company considers customer purchase orders, which in some cases
are governed by master sales agreements, to be contracts with a customer. In situations where sales are to a distributor, the Company has concluded that its
contracts are with the distributor. As part of its consideration of the contract, the Company evaluates certain factors including the customer’s ability to pay (or
credit risk). For each contract, the Company considers the promise to transfer products, each of which is distinct, to be the identified performance obligations.
Revenues from product sales are recognized when the Customer obtains control of the Company’s product, which occurs at a point in time, typically upon
shipment or delivery to the Customer. When the Company performs shipping and handling activities after the transfer of control to the Customer (e.g., when
control transfers prior to delivery), they are considered as fulfillment activities, and accordingly, the costs are accrued for when the related revenue is
recognized. Taxes collected from Customers relating to product sales and remitted to governmental authorities are excluded from revenues. The Company
does not have any revenue recognized on payment expected to be received more than one year after the transfer of control of the products. The Company
expenses incremental costs of obtaining a contract as and when incurred if the expected amortization period of the asset that the Company would have
recognized is one year or less. See Note14. Business Segment Information, for disaggregation of revenue.
Reserves for Variable Consideration
Revenues from product sales are recorded at the net sales price (transaction price), which includes estimates of variable consideration for which reserves are
established and which result from discounts, returns, chargebacks, rebates and other allowances that are offered within contracts between the Company and its
Customers, health care providers, payors and other indirect customers relating to the Company’s sales of its products. These reserves are based on the amounts
earned or to be claimed on the related sales and are classified primarily in current liability. Variable consideration is estimated based on the most likely
amount or expected value approach, depending on which method the Company expects to better predict the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled. Once the Company elects one of the methods to estimate variable consideration for a particular type of performance obligation, the Company will
apply that method consistently.
Where appropriate, these estimates take into consideration a range of possible outcomes which are probability-weighted for relevant factors such as the
Company’s historical experience, current contractual and statutory requirements, specific known market events and trends, industry data and forecasted
customer buying and payment patterns. Overall, these reserves reflect the Company’s best estimates of the amount of consideration to which it is entitled
based on the terms of the contract. Actual amounts of consideration ultimately received may differ from the Company’s estimates. If actual results in the
future vary from the Company’s estimates, the Company adjusts these estimates, which would affect net product revenue and earnings in the period such
variances become known.
Trade Discounts and Allowances
The Company generally provides Customers with discounts, which include incentive fees that are stated in the Company’s contracts and are recorded as a
reduction of revenue in the period the related product revenue is recognized. In addition, the Company receives sales order management, data and
distribution services from certain Customers. To the extent the services received are distinct from the Company’s sale of products to the Customer and have
readily determinable fair value, these payments are classified in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income of the
Company.
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THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Product Returns
Consistent with industry practice, the Company generally offers Customers a limited right of return for a product that has been purchased from the Company.
The Company estimates the amount of its product sales that may be returned by its Customers and records this estimate as a reduction of revenue in the
period the related product revenue is recognized. There is inherent judgment in estimating future refunds as they are susceptible to factors outside of our
influence. However, we have significant experience in estimating the amount of refunds, based primarily on historical data. Our refund liability for product
returns was $12.6 million at January 31, 2019 which is included in Accrued liabilities on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and represents the
expected value of the aggregate refunds that will be due to our customers.
Rebates and Chargebacks
Rebates are estimated based on contractual terms, historical experience, customer mix, trend analysis and projected market conditions in the various markets
served.
Chargebacks for fees and discounts to providers represent the estimated obligations resulting from contractual commitments to sell products to qualified
healthcare providers at prices lower than the list wholesale prices charged to the Company’s direct customers. For certain office and surgical products in
CooperSurgical, customers charge the Company for the difference between what they pay for the product and the ultimate selling price to the qualified
healthcare providers. These reserves are established in the same period that the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of product revenue.
Chargeback amounts are generally determined at the time of resale to the qualified healthcare provider by Customers. CooperSurgical rebates are
predominately related to the Medicaid rebate provision that is estimated based upon contractual terms, historical experience, and trend analysis.
Contract balances
The timing of billing and revenue recognition primarily occurs simultaneously. The Company does not have material contract assets or liabilities.
Note 3. Acquisitions
The following is a summary of the allocation of the total purchase consideration for business and asset acquisitions that the Company completed during
fiscal 2019 and 2018:
(In millions)

January 31, 2019

October 31, 2018

Technology

$

$

Customer relationships
Trademarks
Composite intangible asset
Other
Total identifiable intangible assets

9.9
7.5
9.7
—
—

—
23.5
100.0
1,061.9
4.2

$

27.1

$

1,189.6

Goodwill

35.8
1.4

Net tangible assets
Total purchase price

$

64.3

70.6
59.6
$

1,319.8

All the acquisitions were funded by cash generated from operations or facility borrowings.
For business acquisitions, we recorded the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their fair values as of the applicable date of
acquisition. For assets acquisitions, we recorded the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated and relative fair values
as of the applicable date of acquisition.
We believe these acquisitions strengthen CooperSurgical's and CooperVision's businesses through the addition of new or complementary products and
services.
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THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Fiscal Year 2019
On December 31, 2018, CooperSurgical completed the acquisition of Incisive Surgical Inc., a privately-held U.S. medical device company that develops
mechanical surgical solutions for skin closure. The purchase price allocation is preliminary and we are in the process of finalizing information primarily
related to property, plant & equipment, inventories, receivables, certain accruals and other liabilities, taxes and the corresponding impact on goodwill.
On December 28, 2018, CooperVision completed the acquisition of Blanchard Contact Lenses. Blanchard is a privately-held scleral lens company, which
expands CooperVision's specialty and scleral lens portfolio. The purchase price allocation is preliminary and we are in the process of finalizing information
primarily related to property, plant & equipment, inventories, receivables, certain accruals and other liabilities, taxes and the corresponding impact on
goodwill.
The pro forma results of operations of these acquisitions have not been presented because the effects of the business combinations described above,
individually and in the aggregate, were not material to our consolidated results of operations.
Fiscal Year 2018
PARAGARD
On November 1, 2017, CooperSurgical acquired the assets of the PARAGARD Intrauterine Device (IUD) business (PARAGARD) from Teva Pharmaceuticals
Industries Limited for $1.1 billion. This asset acquisition broadened and strengthened CooperSurgical's product portfolio. PARAGARD® is the only
hormone-free, long lasting, reversible contraceptive approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) available in the United States.
The following table summarizes the relative fair values of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed using the cost accumulation and allocation model:
(In millions)

Relative Fair Value

Composite intangible asset (1)
Assembled workforce intangible asset (2)
Property, plant and equipment
Inventory (3)
Other assets

$

1,061.9
1.2
2.0
47.3
9.4

Total assets acquired

$

1,121.8

$

1,105.4

Less: liabilities assumed

16.4

Total Purchase Price

The Company proportionally allocated the acquisition costs to the net assets acquired. The acquisition-related costs included advisory, legal, valuation and
other professional fees.
(1) Composite

Intangible asset consists of technology, trade name, New Drug Application (NDA) approval and physician relationships, which have been
valued as a single composite intangible asset as they are inextricably linked. The composite asset was identified as the primary asset acquired, was valued
using the Multi-Period Excess Earnings Method and will be amortized over 15 years.
(2) An assembled workforce was recognized as a separate acquired intangible asset, given the purchase of assets and will be amortized over 5 years.
(3) Inventory relative fair value includes step up of $45.4 million.
Other Acquisitions
On April 3, 2018, CooperSurgical completed the acquisition of The LifeGlobal Group (LifeGlobal). LifeGlobal was a privately held company that specializes
primarily in in-vitro fertilization (IVF) media. LifeGlobal’s product categories include media products as well as IVF laboratory air filtration products and
dishware. We have completed the purchase price allocation for this acquisition.
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On December 1, 2017, CooperVision acquired Paragon Vision Sciences, a leading provider of orthokeratology (ortho-k) specialty contact lenses and oxygen
permeable rigid contact lens materials. Ortho-k contact lenses are overnight lenses which enable corneal topography correction for myopia (nearsightedness)
patients. We have completed the purchase price allocation for this acquisition.
On January 4, 2018, CooperVision acquired Blueyes Ltd, a long-standing distribution partner, with a leading position in the distribution of contact lenses to
the Optical and Pharmacy sector in Israel. We have completed the purchase price allocation for this acquisition.
Note 4. Inventories
(In millions)

January 31, 2019

Raw materials

October 31, 2018

$

119.9
12.6
353.7

$

112.5
12.6
343.7

$

486.2

$

468.8

Work-in-process
Finished goods

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is computed using standard cost that approximates actual cost, on a first-in, first-out
basis.
Note 5. Intangible Assets
Goodwill
(In millions)

CooperVision

Balance at October 31, 2017
Net additions during the year ended October 31, 2018
Translation

$

Balance at October 31, 2018
Net additions during the three months ended January 31, 2019
Translation

1,735.7
36.8
(29.6)

CooperSurgical

$

1,742.9
13.9
19.9
$

Balance at January 31, 2019

1,776.7

619.1
34.4
(4.3)

Total

$

649.2
21.9
1.5
$

672.6

2,354.8
71.2
(33.9)
2,392.1
35.8
21.4

$

2,449.3

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually during the fiscal third quarter and when an event occurs or circumstances change such that it is
reasonably possible that impairment may exist. The Company accounts for goodwill and evaluates its goodwill balances and tests them for impairment in
accordance with related accounting standards. The Company performed its annual impairment assessment in its third quarters of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017
respectively, and its analysis indicated that the Company had no impairment of goodwill.
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Other Intangible Assets
January 31, 2019

Gross Carrying
Amount

(In millions)

Trademarks
Composite intangible asset
Technology
Customer relationships
License and distribution rights and other
Less: accumulated amortization and
translation
Other intangible assets, net

$

October 31, 2018

Accumulated
Amortization

149.3
1,061.9
405.8
359.0
76.0

$

19.4
88.5
198.5
175.3
56.2

2,052.0

$

537.9

Gross Carrying
Amount

$

537.9
$

Weighted Average
Amortization Period (In
years)

Accumulated
Amortization

139.2
1,061.9
395.0
350.0
74.9

$

16.9
70.8
190.7
168.6
52.7

14
15
11
13
9

2,021.0

$

499.7

14

499.7

1,514.1

$

1,521.3

Balances include foreign currency translation adjustments.
As of January 31, 2019, the estimation of amortization expenses for intangible assets with finite lives is as follows:
Fiscal years:

(In millions)

Remainder of 2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total remaining amortization for intangible assets

$

109.1
136.1
134.8
132.9
130.7
861.6

$

1,505.2

Note 6. Debt
(In millions)

January 31, 2019

Overdraft and other credit facilities

October 31, 2018

$

45.6
400.0
(0.1)

$

37.1
—
—

Short-term Debt

$

445.5

$

37.1

Revolving credit
Term loans
Other
Less: unamortized debt issuance cost

$

140.0
1,550.0
0.2
(3.3)

$

439.0
1,550.0
0.2
(3.5)

Long-term Debt

$

1,686.9

$

1,985.7

Total Debt

$

2,132.4

$

2,022.8

Term loans
Less: unamortized debt issuance cost
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$400 million Term Loan on November 1, 2018
On November 1, 2018, the Company entered into a 364-day, $400.0 million, senior unsecured term loan agreement by and among the Company, the lenders
party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent which matures on October 31, 2019 (the 2018 Term Loan Agreement). The
Company used the funds to partially repay outstanding borrowings under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility. At January 31, 2019, we had $400.0 million
outstanding under the 2018 Term Loan Agreement.
Amounts outstanding under the 2018 Term Loan Agreement will bear interest, at the Company's option, at either the base rate, or the adjusted LIBO rate
(each as defined in the 2018 Term Loan Agreement), plus, in each case, an applicable rate of 0.00% in respect of base rate loans and 0.60% in respect of
adjusted LIBO rate loans. The weighted average interest rate for the three months ended January 31, 2019 was 2.99%.
The 2018 Term Loan Agreement contains customary restrictive covenants, as well as financial covenants that require the Company to maintain a certain
Total Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio (each as defined in the 2018 Term Loan Agreement) consistent with the 2016 Credit Agreement discussed
below.
$1.425 billion Term Loan on November 1, 2017
On November 1, 2017, in connection with the PARAGARD acquisition, we entered into a five-year, $1.425 billion, senior unsecured term loan agreement
(the 2017 Term Loan Agreement) by and among the Company, the lenders party thereto and DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as administrative agent
which matures on November 1, 2022. The Company used part of the facility to fund the PARAGARD acquisition and used the remainder of the funds to
partially repay outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit agreement.
Amounts outstanding under the 2017 Term Loan Agreement will bear interest, at our option, at either the base rate, or the adjusted LIBO rate (each as defined
in the 2017 Term Loan Agreement), plus, in each case, an applicable rate of, between 0.00% and 0.75% in respect of base rate loans and between 1.00% and
1.75% in respect of adjusted LIBO rate loans, in each case in accordance with a pricing grid tied to the Total Leverage Ratio as defined in the 2017 Term
Loan Agreement.
The 2017 Term Loan Agreement contains customary restrictive covenants, as well as financial covenants that require the Company to maintain a certain
Total Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio (each as defined in the 2017 Term Loan Agreement) consistent with the 2016 Credit Agreement discussed
below. At January 31, 2019, we had $1.425 billion outstanding under the 2017 Term Loan Agreement.
Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement on March 1, 2016
On March 1, 2016, we entered into a Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement (the 2016 Credit Agreement), among the Company, CooperVision
International Holding Company, LP, the lenders party thereto and KeyBank National Association, as administrative agent. The 2016 Credit Agreement
provides for a multicurrency revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion (the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility) and a term loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of $830.0 million (the 2016 Term Loan Facility), each of which, unless terminated earlier, mature on March 1, 2021.
In addition, we have the ability from time to time to request an increase to the size of the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility or establish one or more new term
loans under the 2016 Term Loan Facility in an aggregate amount up to $750.0 million, subject to the discretionary participation of the lenders.
Amounts outstanding under the 2016 Credit Agreement will bear interest, at our option, at either the base rate, or the adjusted LIBO rate or adjusted foreign
currency rate (each as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement), plus, in each case, an applicable rate of between 0.00% and 0.75% in respect of base rate loans
and between 1.00% and 1.75% in respect of adjusted LIBO rate or adjusted foreign currency rate loans, in each case in accordance with a pricing grid tied to
the Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement.
We pay an annual commitment fee that ranges from 0.125% to 0.25% of the unused portion of the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility depending on certain
financial ratios. In addition to the annual commitment fee described above, we are also required to pay certain letter of credit and related fronting fees and
other administrative fees pursuant to the terms of the 2016 Credit Agreement.
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At January 31, 2019, we had $125.0 million outstanding under the 2016 Term Loan Facility and $859.5 million available under the 2016 Revolving Credit
Facility.
The 2016 Credit Agreement contains customary restrictive covenants, as well as financial covenants that require us to maintain a certain Total Leverage
Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio (each as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement):
•

Interest Coverage Ratio, as defined, to be at least 3.00 to 1.00 at all times.

•

Total Leverage Ratio, as defined, to be no higher than 3.75 to 1.00.

At January 31, 2019, we were in compliance with the Interest Coverage Ratio at 10.70 to 1.00 and the Total Leverage Ratio at 2.25 to 1.00 for 2018 Term
Loan Agreement, the 2017 Term Loan Agreement, and the 2016 Credit Agreement.
Refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018 for more details.
Note 7. Income Taxes
Recent Tax Legislation
The 2017 Act was enacted into law on December 22, 2017 and significantly changes existing U.S. tax law. The 2017 Act adopts a territorial tax system,
imposes a mandatory one-time transition tax on earnings of foreign subsidiaries that were previously indefinitely reinvested, and reduces the U.S. federal
statutory tax rate from 35% to 21%. For first quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company has utilized the enacted U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21%.
The 2017 Act includes several provisions that are effective for our fiscal 2019: (i) tax on global intangible low-taxed income (GILTI) of foreign subsidiaries,
(ii) tax on certain payments between a U.S. corporation and its foreign subsidiaries referred to as the base erosion and anti-abuse tax (BEAT), (iii) limitation
on the tax deduction for interest payments, and (iv) expanded limitation on the tax deduction for compensation paid to certain executives.
The 2017 Act was effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2018. As of January 31, 2019, we have completed our accounting for the tax effects of the enactment
of the 2017 Act and recorded a final adjustment to our provisional tax expense pursuant to SAB 118. During the first quarter of fiscal 2019, we recorded tax
benefit of $4.4 million in our financial statements to finalize the tax effects of the 2017 Act. The Company is no longer asserting that earnings from our
foreign subsidiaries are indefinitely reinvested.
The 2017 Act imposes a new tax on foreign earnings and profits in excess of a deemed return on tangible assets of foreign subsidiaries referred to as GILTI
which is effective in fiscal 2019. In accordance with FASB Staff Q&A, Topic 740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, the Company
is making an accounting policy election to recognize the tax expense related to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred.
Effective Tax Rate
The Company's effective tax rates were a benefit of 10.0% and expense of 263.7% for the first quarters of fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, respectively. The
decrease in our effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2018 was primarily due to the provisional charge of
$202.0 million relating to the 2017 Act that was recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2018. Our effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal 2019 was lower
than the U.S. statutory rate because of discrete tax benefits which were partially offset by a less favorable mix of income from our foreign jurisdictions with
lower tax rates. Total discrete tax benefits for the first quarter of fiscal 2019 were $18.7 million primarily relating to settlement of tax audits, revisions to the
provisional tax charges relating to the 2017 Act, and excess tax benefits from share-based compensation. Our effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal
2018 was higher than the U.S. statutory rate because of the discrete tax expense relating to the 2017 Act, which was partially offset by a favorable mix of
income from our foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rates and an excess tax benefit from share-based compensation.
We recognize the benefit from a tax position only if it is more likely than not that the position would be sustained upon audit based solely on the technical
merits of the tax position. As of January 31, 2019, and October 31, 2018, Cooper had unrecognized tax benefits of $47.1 million and $68.9 million,
respectively. The decrease is primarily related to settling prior year tax audits, partially offset by additions to current period transfer pricing reserves. It is our
policy to recognize interest and penalties directly related to income taxes as additional income tax expense. It is reasonably possible that $3.1 million of
unrecognized tax benefits could be settled during the next twelve months.
The Company is subject to U.S. Federal income tax examinations for fiscal 2015 through 2018 and the Internal Revenue Service is currently auditing our
U.S. Consolidated Corporation Income Tax Returns for fiscal 2015 and 2016. The
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Company remains subject to income tax examinations in other significant tax jurisdictions including the United Kingdom, Japan, France and Australia for
the tax years 2015 through 2018.
Note 8. Earnings Per Share
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions, except per share amounts)

2019

Net income (loss)

$

2018

103.2

$

(122.5)

$

(2.50)

Basic:
Weighted average common shares

49.3

Basic earnings (loss) per share

$

2.09

48.9

Diluted:
Weighted average common shares
Effect of potential dilutive shares
Diluted weighted average common shares*
Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to Cooper stockholders

$

49.3
0.6

48.9
—

49.9

48.9

2.07

$

(2.50)

*The number of diluted weighted average common shares used to calculate fiscal 2018 diluted loss per share excludes all potentially dilutive
instrument because they would be antidilutive due to the net loss position.
The following table sets forth stock options to purchase Cooper’s common stock and restricted stock units that were not included in the diluted earnings per
share calculation because their effect would have been antidilutive for the periods presented:
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In thousands, except exercise prices)

2019

Number of stock option shares excluded
Range of exercise prices

2018

377

1,202

$226.30-$254.77

$15.83-$229.66

17

546

Number of restricted stock units excluded
Note 9. Share-Based Compensation Plans

Cooper has several share-based compensation plans that are described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the fiscal year ended October 31,
2018. The compensation expense and related income tax benefit recognized in our consolidated condensed financial statements for share-based awards were
as follows:
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions)

2019

2018

Selling, general and administrative expense

$

$

Cost of sales
Research and development expense
Total share-based compensation expense

9.3
1.5
0.9

10.7
1.3
0.7

$

11.7

$

12.7

Related income tax benefit

$

1.7

$

2.5
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Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Analysis of Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income:
Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment

(In millions)

Minimum
Pension
Liability

Total

Balance at October 31, 2017
Gross change in value during the year ended October 31, 2018
Tax effect for the period
ASU 2018-02 adoption (1)

$

(353.7) $
(58.5)
—
—

(21.6) $
11.0
(3.1)
(4.8)

(375.3)
(47.5)
(3.1)
(4.8)

Balance at October 31, 2018
Gross change in value during the three months ended January 31, 2019

$

(412.2) $
32.7

(18.5) $
—

(430.7)
32.7

Balance at January 31, 2019

$

(379.5) $

(18.5) $

(398.0)

(1)

Represents reclassification to retained earnings from adoption of ASU 2018-02. Refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018 for
more details.

Share Repurchases
In December 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the 2012 Share Repurchase Program and through subsequent amendments, the most recent in March
2017, the total repurchase authorization was increased from $500.0 million to $1.0 billion of the Company's common stock. This program has no expiration
date and may be discontinued at any time. Purchases under the 2012 Share Repurchase Program are subject to a review of the circumstances in place at the
time and may be made from time to time as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements.
In the fiscal first quarter of 2019, we repurchased 24.5 thousand shares of the Company's common stock for $6.1 million, at an average purchase price of
$248.70 per share. We did not repurchase shares during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018. At January 31, 2019, $557.4 million remains authorized for
repurchase under the program.
Dividends
We paid a semiannual dividend of approximately $1.5 million or 3 cents per share on February 8, 2019, to stockholders of record on January 22, 2019.
Note 11. Fair Value Measurements
Accounting standards define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. An asset’s or
liability’s level is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Assets and liabilities carried at fair value are valued and
disclosed in one of the following three levels of the valuation hierarchy:
Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting the reporting entity’s own assumptions.
At January 31, 2019 and October 31, 2018, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expense and other current assets,
lines of credit, accounts payable and other current liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of such instruments and the ability to obtain
financing on similar terms.
The carrying value of our revolving credit facility and term loans approximates fair value estimated based on current market rates (Level 2). The Company
did not have any derivative assets or liabilities that may include interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps or foreign currency forward contracts as of
January 31, 2019 and October 31, 2018.
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Nonrecurring fair value measurements
The Company uses fair value measures when determining assets and liabilities acquired in an acquisition as described in Note 3. Acquisitions which are
considered a Level 3 measurement.
Note 12. Employee Benefits
Cooper’s Retirement Income Plan (the Plan), a defined benefit plan, covers substantially all full-time United States employees. Our contributions are
designed to fund normal cost on a current basis and to fund the estimated prior service cost of benefit improvements. The unit credit actuarial cost method is
used to determine the annual cost. Cooper pays the entire cost of the Plan and funds such costs as they accrue. Virtually all of the assets of the Plan are
comprised of equities and participation in equity and fixed income funds.
Our results of operations for the three months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018, reflect the following components of net periodic pension costs:
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions)

2019

2018

Service cost

$

$

Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Recognized net actuarial loss
Net periodic pension cost

2.5
1.5
(2.4)
0.2

2.7
1.3
(2.3)
0.4

$

1.8

$

2.1

We did not contribute to the Plan in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and expect to contribute $10.0 million during the remainder of fiscal 2019. We did not
contribute to the Plan in the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The expected rate of return on Plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost is 8%.
Note 13. Contingencies
Since March 2015, over 50 putative class action complaints were filed by contact lens consumers alleging that contact lens manufacturers, in conjunction
with their respective Unilateral Pricing Policy (UPP), conspired to reach agreements between each other and certain distributors and retailers regarding the
prices at which certain contact lenses could be sold to consumers. The plaintiffs are seeking damages against CooperVision, Inc., other contact lens
manufacturers, distributors and retailers, in various courts around the United States. In June 2015, all of the class action cases were consolidated and
transferred to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. In August 2017, CooperVision entered into a settlement agreement with the
plaintiffs, without any admission of liability, to settle all claims against CooperVision. In July 2018, the Court approved the plaintiffs’ motion for
preliminary approval of the settlement, and the Company paid the $3.0 million settlement amount into an escrow account. The settlement remains subject to
final Court approval at a future hearing to be set by the Court.
The Company is involved in various lawsuits, claims and other legal matters from time to time that arise in the ordinary course of conducting business,
including matters involving our products, intellectual property, supplier relationships, distributors, competitor relationships, employees and other matters.
The Company does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these proceedings or claims pending against it could have a material adverse effect on its
financial condition or results of operations. At each reporting period, the Company evaluates whether or not a potential loss amount or a potential range of
loss is probable and reasonably estimable under ASC 450, Contingencies. Legal fees are expensed as incurred.
Note 14. Business Segment Information
Cooper uses operating income, as presented in our financial reports, as the primary measure of segment profitability. We do not allocate costs from corporate
functions to segment operating income. Items below operating income are not considered when measuring the profitability of a segment. We use the same
accounting policies to generate segment results as we do for our consolidated results.
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Total identifiable assets are those used in continuing operations except cash and cash equivalents, which we include as corporate assets.
Segment information:
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions)

2019

2018

CooperVision net sales by category:
Toric lens
Multifocal lens
Single-use sphere lens
Non single-use sphere and other
Total CooperVision net sales

$

146.0
49.1
132.1
142.9

$

137.8
46.9
116.3
143.8

470.1

444.8

95.7
62.3

88.2
57.0

CooperSurgical net sales by category:
Office and surgical procedures
Fertility
Total CooperSurgical net sales

158.0

Total net sales

145.2

$

628.1

$

590.0

$

116.3
7.2
(12.6)

$

112.3
(9.3)
(12.8)

Operating income (loss):
CooperVision
CooperSurgical
Corporate
Total operating income

110.9
18.2
1.1

Interest expense
Other income, net
Income before income taxes

$

(In millions)

93.8

90.2
18.4
3.0
$

January 31, 2019

74.8
October 31, 2018

Total identifiable assets:
CooperVision
CooperSurgical
Corporate
Total

$

3,869.8
2,214.6
214.2

$

3,746.0
2,201.7
165.1

$

6,298.6

$

6,112.8

Geographic information:
Three Months Ended January 31,
(In millions)

2019

2018

Net sales to unaffiliated customers by country of domicile:
United States
Europe
Rest of world
Total
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278.9
209.7
139.5

$

261.5
203.8
124.7

$

628.1

$

590.0
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(In millions)

January 31, 2019

October 31, 2018

Net property, plant and equipment by country of domicile:
United States
Europe
Rest of world
Total

$

550.2
349.6
124.0

$

516.7
340.7
118.6

$

1,023.8

$

976.0

Note 15. Subsequent Event
Filshie Clip System
On February 1, 2019, subsequent to the first quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company agreed to the early termination of an exclusive distribution agreement with
Femcare Ltd. which had given CooperSurgical the exclusive rights to distribute the Filshie Clip System in the U.S. The Company received consideration of
$21 million on January 31, 2019, from Utah Medical Products, Inc. (UTMD), the parent company of Femcare Ltd., in exchange for the agreement to terminate
the exclusive distribution agreement prior to the end of the contractual term. UTMD has also agreed to buyback resaleable Filshie Clip System inventory.
Diverted Profit Tax
On February 26, 2019, subsequent to the first quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company received a refund of approximately GBP 22.1 million (USD 29.0 million)
from the GBP 31 million (USD 42.0 million) payment made on January 19, 2018 to the U.K. Tax Authorities. The payment had been made in regard to the
Diverted Profit Tax matter related to the transfer of certain intellectual property rights in connection with the 2014 acquisition of Sauflon Pharmaceutical Ltd.
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Note numbers refer to “Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements” in Item 1. Unaudited Financial Statements.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These include statements relating to plans, prospects, goals,
strategies, future actions, events or performance and other statements which are other than statements of historical fact, including all statements regarding
acquisitions including the acquired companies' financial position, market position, product development and business strategy, expected cost synergies,
expected timing and benefits of the transaction, difficulties in integrating entities or operations, as well as estimates of our and the acquired entities' future
expenses, sales and earnings per share are forward-looking. In addition, all statements regarding anticipated growth in our revenue, anticipated effects of any
product recalls, anticipated market conditions, planned product launches and expected results of operations and integration of any acquisition are forwardlooking. To identify these statements, look for words like “believes,” “outlook,” “probable,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “seeks,” “intends,”
“plans,” “estimates” or “anticipates” and similar words or phrases. Forward-looking statements necessarily depend on assumptions, data or methods that may
be incorrect or imprecise and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Among the factors that could cause our actual results and future actions to differ materially
from those described in forward-looking statements are:
•

Adverse changes in global political and economic conditions, and related uncertainty caused by the United Kingdom’s election to withdraw from
the European Union and its potential impact on, among other things, the movement of goods and materials in our supply chain, additional
regulatory approvals and requirements, and increased tariffs and duties.

•

Adverse changes in the global or regional general business, political and economic conditions, including the impact of continuing uncertainty and
instability of certain countries that could adversely affect our global markets, and the potential adverse economic impact and related uncertainty
caused by these items, including but not limited to, escalating global trade barriers including additional tariffs.

•

Foreign currency exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations including the risk of fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies or interest rates that
would decrease our revenues and earnings.

•

Changes in tax laws or their interpretation and changes in statutory tax rates, including but not limited to, the U.S., the United Kingdom and other
countries may affect our taxation of earnings recognized in foreign jurisdictions and/or negatively impact our effective tax rate.

•

Our existing indebtedness and associated interest expense, most of which is variable and impacted by rate increases, which could adversely affect
our financial health or limit our ability to borrow additional funds.

•

Acquisition-related adverse effects including the failure to successfully obtain the anticipated revenues, margins and earnings benefits of
acquisitions, integration delays or costs and the requirement to record significant adjustments to the preliminary fair value of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed within the measurement period, required regulatory approvals for an acquisition not being obtained or being delayed or subject
to conditions that are not anticipated, adverse impacts of changes to accounting controls and reporting procedures, contingent liabilities or
indemnification obligations, increased leverage and lack of access to available financing (including financing for the acquisition or refinancing of
debt owed by us on a timely basis and on reasonable terms).

•

Compliance costs and potential liability in connection with U.S. and foreign laws and health care regulations pertaining to privacy and security of
third- party information, such as HIPAA in the U.S. and the General Data Protection Regulation requirements in Europe, including but not limited to
those resulting from data security breaches.
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•

A major disruption in the operations of our manufacturing, accounting and financial reporting, research and development, distribution facilities or
raw material supply chain due to integration of acquisitions, natural disasters or other causes.

•

A major disruption in the operations of our manufacturing, accounting and financial reporting, research and development or distribution facilities
due to technological problems, including any related to our information systems maintenance, enhancements or new system deployments,
integrations or upgrades.

•

Disruptions in supplies of raw materials, particularly components used to manufacture our silicone hydrogel lenses.

•

New U.S. and foreign government laws and regulations, and changes in existing laws, regulations and enforcement guidance, which affect areas of
our operations including, but not limited to, those affecting the health care industry, including the contact lens industry specifically and the medical
device or pharmaceutical industries generally.

•

Legal costs, insurance expenses, settlement costs and the risk of an adverse decision, prohibitive injunction or settlement related to product liability,
patent infringement or other litigation.

•

Limitations on sales following product introductions due to poor market acceptance.

•

New competitors, product innovations or technologies, including but not limited to, technological advances by competitors, new products and
patents attained by competitors, and competitors' expansion through acquisitions.

•

Reduced sales, loss of customers and costs and expenses related to product recalls and warning letters.

•

Failure to receive, or delays in receiving, regulatory approvals for products.

•

Failure of our customers and end users to obtain adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors for our products and services.

•

The requirement to provide for a significant liability or to write off, or accelerate depreciation on, a significant asset, including goodwill, other
intangible assets and idle manufacturing facilities and equipment.

•

The success of our research and development activities and other start-up projects.

•

Dilution to earnings per share from acquisitions or issuing stock.

•

Impact and costs incurred from changes in accounting standards and policies.

•

Environmental risks, including increasing environmental legislation and the broader impacts of climate change.

•

Other events described in our Securities and Exchange Commission filings, including the “Business” and “Risk Factors” sections in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018, as such Risk Factors may be updated in quarterly filings.

We caution investors that forward-looking statements reflect our analysis only on their stated date. We disclaim any intent to update them except as required
by law.
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Results of Operations
In this section, we discuss the results of our operations for the first quarter of fiscal 2019 ended January 31, 2019 and compare them with the same periods of
fiscal 2018. We discuss our cash flows and current financial condition under “Capital Resources and Liquidity.” Within the tables presented, percentages are
calculated based on the underlying whole-dollar amounts and, therefore, may not recalculate exactly from the rounded numbers used for disclosure purposes.

First Quarter Highlights
•

Gross profit $418.5 million, up 13% from $370.9 million in the prior year period

•

Operating income $110.9 million, up 23% from $90.2 million in the prior year period

•

Diluted earnings per share of $2.07, up from $2.50 diluted loss per share in the prior year period

•

Cash provided by operations $101.8 million, compared to $26.2 million in the prior year period

Outlook
Overall, we remain optimistic about the long-term prospects for the worldwide contact lens and general health care markets. However, events affecting the
economy as a whole, including but not limited to the uncertainty and instability of global markets driven by foreign currency volatility, changes in tax
legislation, debt concerns, the uncertainty caused by the United Kingdom's upcoming withdrawal from the European Union, global trade barriers including
additional tariffs and the trend of consolidations within the health care industry, impact our current performance and continue to represent a risk to our future
performance.
CooperVision - We compete in the worldwide contact lens market with our spherical, toric and multifocal contact lenses offered in a variety of materials
including using silicone hydrogel Aquaform® technology and phosphorylcholine technology (PC) Technology™. We believe that there will be lower
contact lens wearer dropout rates as technology improves and enhances the wearing experience through a combination of improved designs and materials
and the growth of preferred modalities such as single-use and monthly wearing options. CooperVision is focused on greater worldwide market penetration
using recently introduced products, and we continue to expand our presence in existing and emerging markets, including through acquisitions.
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CooperVision acquired the following entity during the three months ended January 31, 2019:
•

Blanchard Contact Lenses on December 28, 2018 - a privately-held scleral lens company, which expands CooperVision's specialty and scleral lens
portfolio.

CooperVision acquired the following entities during the three months ended January 31, 2018:
•

Blueyes on January 4, 2018 - a long-standing distribution partner, which had a leading position in the distribution of contact lenses to the optical
and pharmacy sector in Israel.

•

Paragon Vision Sciences on December 1, 2017 - a leading provider of orthokeratology (ortho-k) specialty contact lenses and oxygen permeable rigid
contact lens materials.

Our ability to compete successfully with a full range of silicone hydrogel products is an important factor to achieving our desired future levels of sales growth
and profitability. CooperVision manufactures and markets a wide variety of silicone hydrogel contact lenses within the daily, two-week and monthly
modalities along with manufacturing some of these lenses as toric and/or multifocal lenses, including but not limited to Biofinity ®, MyDay ®, Avaira
Vitality ® and clariti ®. Single-use lenses are designed for daily replacement and frequently replaced lenses are designed for two-week or monthly replacement.
We expect increasing demand for clariti ® 1day and MyDay ® products, as well as future single-use products.
CooperSurgical - Our CooperSurgical business competes in the general health care market with a focus on advancing the health of women, babies and
families through a diversified portfolio of products and services focusing on women's health, fertility, diagnostics and contraception. CooperSurgical has
established its market presence and distribution system by developing products and acquiring companies, products and services that complement its business
model.
CooperSurgical acquired the following entity during the three months ended January 31, 2019:
•

Incisive Surgical Inc. on December 31, 2018 - a privately-held U.S. medical device company that develops mechanical surgical solutions for skin
closure.

CooperSurgical acquired the following entities during fiscal 2018:
•

LifeGlobal Group on April 3, 2018 - a privately held company that specializes primarily in IVF media. LifeGlobal’s product categories include
media products, IVF laboratory air filtration products and dishware.

•

PARAGARD on November 1, 2017 - CooperSurgical acquired the assets of the PARAGARD IUD business from Teva for $1.1 billion. PARAGARD
broadened and strengthened CooperSurgical's women's health product portfolio and it is the only non-hormonal, long lasting, reversible
contraceptive option approved by the FDA and available in the United States. IUDs represent a large and growing segment of the Long Acting
Reversible Contraceptive market.

We intend to continue investing in CooperSurgical's business with the goal of expanding our integrated solutions model within the areas of women's health,
fertility, diagnostics and contraception.
Capital Resources - At January 31, 2019, we had $146.6 million in unrestricted cash, primarily held outside the United States, and $859.5 million available
under our 2016 Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below). Term loans of $1,950.0 million remained outstanding at January 31, 2019.
On November 1, 2018, the Company entered into a 364-day, $400.0 million, senior unsecured term loan agreement by and among the Company, the lenders
party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent
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which matures on October 31, 2019 (the 2018 Term Loan Agreement). The Company used the funds to partially repay outstanding borrowings under the
2016 Revolving Credit Facility. At January 31, 2019, we had $400.0 million outstanding under the 2018 Term Loan Agreement.
On November 1, 2017, we entered into a $1.425 billion syndicated Term Loan Agreement (the 2017 Term Loan Agreement) which matures on November 1,
2022, to fund the acquisition of PARAGARD, to partially repay outstanding amounts under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility, and for general corporate
purposes. At January 31, 2019, we had $1.425 billion outstanding under the 2017 Term Loan Agreement.
On March 1, 2016, we entered into a syndicated revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement (the 2016 Credit Agreement). This agreement, maturing on
March 1, 2021, provides for a multi-currency revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion (the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility)
and a term loan facility in the aggregate principal amount of $830.0 million (the 2016 Term Loan Facility). At January 31, 2019, we had $125.0 million
outstanding under the 2016 Term Loan Facility. See Note 6. Debt of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
The Company believes that current cash, cash equivalents and future cash flow from operating activities will be sufficient to meet the Company’s anticipated
cash needs, including working capital needs, capital expenditures and contractual obligations for at least 12 months from the issuance date of the financial
statements included in this quarterly report. To the extent additional funds are necessary to meet our liquidity needs such as that for acquisitions, share
repurchases, cash dividends or other activities as we execute our business strategy, we anticipate that additional funds will be obtained through the
incurrence of additional indebtedness, additional equity financings or a combination of these potential sources of funds; however, such financing may not be
available on favorable terms, or at all.
Selected Statistical Information – Percentage of Net Sales
Percentage of Sales
Three Months Ended January 31,

2019

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expense
Research and development expense
Amortization of intangibles
Operating income

2019 vs 2018 % Change in
Absolute Values

2018

100%
33%

100%
37%

6%
(4)%

67%
40%
3%
6%

63%
38%
3%
6%

13 %
11 %
11 %
2%

18%

15%

23 %

Net Sales Growth by Business Unit
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

2019

2018

Increase

2019 vs 2018 % Change

CooperVision

$

$

444.8
145.2

$

CooperSurgical
Net sales

470.1
158.0

25.3
12.8

6%
9%

$

628.1

$

590.0

$

38.1

6%

CooperVision Net Sales
The contact lens market has two major product categories:
•

Spherical lenses including lenses that correct near- and farsightedness uncomplicated by more complex visual defects
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•

Toric and multifocal lenses including lenses that, in addition to correcting near- and farsightedness, address more complex visual defects such as
astigmatism and presbyopia by adding optical properties of cylinder and axis, which correct for irregularities in the shape of the cornea.

CooperVision Net Sales by Category

Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

2019

Toric

2018

2019 vs 2018
% Change

$

146.0
49.1
132.1
142.9

$

137.8
46.9
116.3
143.8

6%
5%
14 %
(1)%

$

470.1

$

444.8

6%

Multifocal
Single-use spheres
Non single-use sphere, other

In the three months ended January 31, 2019:
•

Toric and multifocal lenses grew primarily through the success of Biofinity, clariti and MyDay

•

Single-use sphere lenses growth was primarily attributed to clariti and MyDay lenses

•

Non-single-use spheres decline is primarily due to negative impact of foreign exchange rates offset by higher Biofinity sales.

•

"Other" products primarily include lens care which represent approximately 2% of net sales in first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to 3% in prior year
period

•

Increased sales of silicone hydrogel products were partially offset by lower sales of older hydrogel products. Total silicone hydrogel products grew 12%
in first quarter of fiscal 2019, representing 71% of net sales compared to 67% in the prior year period.

•

Foreign exchange rates negatively impacted sales by $13.3 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, primarily attributable to the Euro and British Pound

•

Sales growth was primarily driven by increases in the volume of lenses sold. Average realized prices by product did not materially influence sales growth
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CooperVision Net Sales by Geography
CooperVision competes in the worldwide soft contact lens market and services in three primary regions: the Americas, EMEA (Europe, Middle East and
Africa) and Asia Pacific.
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

2019

Americas

2019 vs 2018
% Change

2018

$

176.0
184.3
109.8

$

169.1
177.9
97.8

4%
4%
12%

$

470.1

$

444.8

6%

EMEA
Asia Pacific

CooperVision's regional growth was primarily attributable to market gains of silicone hydrogel contact lenses. Refer to CooperVision Net Sales by Category
above for further discussion.
CooperSurgical Net Sales by Category
CooperSurgical supplies the family health care market with a diversified portfolio of products and services. Our office and surgical offerings include products
that facilitate surgical and non-surgical procedures that are commonly performed primarily by obstetricians and gynecologists in hospitals, surgical centers,
fertility clinics and medical offices. Fertility offerings include highly specialized products and services that target the IVF process, including diagnostics
testing with a goal to make fertility treatment safer, more efficient and convenient.
The chart below shows the percentage of net sales of office and surgical procedures and fertility.

Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

2019

Office and surgical procedures
Fertility

28

2018

2019 vs 2018
% Change

$
$

95.7
62.3

$
$

88.2
57.0

9%
9%

$

158.0

$

145.2

9%
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In the three months ended January 31, 2019:
•

Office and surgical procedures increased compared to prior year periods due to continued growth in PARAGARD and surgical products, primarily
Uterine Manipulators and recently acquired products of Incisive Surgical.

•

Fertility net sales increased compared to the prior year periods, primarily due to increased sales of IVF consumables, IVF equipment and LifeGlobal
products, partially offset by a decrease in diagnostics revenue

•

Unit growth and product mix positively impacted sales growth

Gross Profit
Gross Profit Percentage of Net Sales
Three Months Ended January 31,

2019

CooperVision
CooperSurgical
Consolidated

2018

66%
69%
67%

66%
54%
63%

CooperVision's gross margin remained relatively flat in first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 due to:
•

an increase in sales of higher margin products including Biofinity;

•

offset by the unfavorable impact to revenue from exchange rate fluctuations, primarily attributable to the Euro and British Pound; and product mix

CooperSurgical's increase in gross margin in first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 was primarily due to:
• an increase in sales of PARAGARD IUD product and inclusion of LifeGlobal products with higher gross margin;
• partially offset by $4.2 million of acquisition, integration and manufacturing related costs.
• First quarter of fiscal 2018 included $16.9 million of PARAGARD inventory step-up charges.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense (SGA)
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

CooperVision

% Net
Sales

2019

2018

% Net
Sales

2019 vs 2018
% Change

$

168.7
68.7
12.6

36%
44%
—

$

157.9
55.2
12.8

36%
38%
-

7%
25 %
(2)%

$

250.0

40%

$

225.9

38%

11 %

CooperSurgical
Corporate

CooperVision's SGA increase in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 was due to investments to support our long-term objectives, including
increased headcount in SGA, investments in information technology and higher distribution expenses to support revenue growth. CooperVision's SGA in the
three months ended January 31, 2019 included $2.4 million of integration and third-party consulting costs.
The increases in CooperSurgical's SGA in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 in absolute dollars and as a percentage of sales were
primarily due to higher PARAGARD marketing expenses and sales headcount investment to support growth. CooperSurgical's SGA in the three months
ended January 31, 2019, included $8.4 million of primarily acquisition and integration expenses of acquired companies, as well as third-party consulting
costs.
The Corporate SGA remained relatively flat in first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018.
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Research and Development Expense (R&D)
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

CooperVision

% Net
Sales

2019

% Net
Sales

2018

2019 vs 2018
% Change

$

13.5
7.5

3%
5%

$

12.2
6.6

3%
5%

10%
11%

$

21.0

3%

$

18.8

3%

11%

CooperSurgical

In the three months ended January 31, 2019:
•

CooperVision's R&D increased mainly due to increased costs from acquisitions and clinical studies. As a percentage of sales, R&D expense
remained flat. CooperVision's R&D activities are primarily focused on the development of contact lenses, manufacturing technology and process
enhancements.

•

The increase in CooperSurgical's R&D were primarily due to acquisitions, increased investment and activities in developing new products and
services and upgrades of existing products. As a percentage of sales, R&D expense remained flat. CooperSurgical's R&D activities include
diagnostics, IVF product development and the design and upgrade of surgical procedure devices.

Amortization Expense
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

CooperVision

% Net
Sales

2019

% Net
Sales

2018

2019 vs 2018
% Change

$

10.5
26.1

2%
17%

$

10.5
25.5

2%
18%

—%
3%

$

36.6

6%

$

36.0

6%

2%

CooperSurgical

CooperVision's amortization expense remained flat in first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018. CooperSurgical's increase in amortization expense
in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 was primarily due to amortization of intangible assets acquired in recent acquisitions.
Operating Income (Loss)
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

CooperVision

% Net
Sales

2019

% Net
Sales

2018

2019 vs 2018
% Change

$

116.3
7.2
(12.6)

25%
5%
—

$

112.3
(9.3)
(12.8)

25 %
(6)%
-

4%
177%
2%

$

110.9

18%

$

90.2

15 %

23%

CooperSurgical
Corporate

CooperVision operating income remained flat as a percentage of net sales and increased in absolute dollars due to improved sales of higher margin products,
including Biofinity, partially offset by the negative impact of foreign exchange rates. CooperSurgical operating income increased due to increase in sales
including higher margin products and recent acquisitions. CooperSurgical operating income in the first quarter of fiscal 2018 included $16.9 million of
PARAGARD inventory step up charges. On a consolidated basis, operating income increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018, in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of net sales was primarily due to the increase in consolidated net sales.
Interest Expense
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

Interest expense

% Net
Sales

2019

$

18.2
30

3%

% Net
Sales

2018

$

18.4

3%

2019 vs 2018
% Change

(1)%

Table of Contents
THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

The decrease in interest expense was primarily due to lower average debt balances as a result of repayments, partially offset by higher interest rates.
Other Income, Net
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

2019

Foreign exchange gain

2018

$

0.5
0.6

$

3.1
(0.1)

$

1.1

$

3.0

Other Income (loss), net

Foreign exchange gain primarily resulted from the revaluation and settlement of foreign currencies-denominated balances.
Provision for Income Taxes
The Company's effective tax rates were a benefit of 10.0% and expense of 263.7% for the first quarters of fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, respectively. The
decrease in our effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2018 was primarily due to the provisional charge of
$202.0 million relating to the 2017 Act that was recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2018. Our effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal 2019 was lower
than the U.S. statutory rate because of discrete tax benefits which were partially offset by a less favorable mix of income from our foreign jurisdictions with
lower tax rates. Total discrete tax benefits for the first quarter of fiscal 2019 were $18.7 million primarily relating to settlement of tax audits, revisions to the
provisional tax charges relating to the 2017 Act, and excess tax benefits from share-based compensation. Our effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal
2018 was higher than the U.S. statutory rate because of the discrete tax expense relating to the 2017 Act, which was partially offset by a favorable mix of
income from our foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rates and an excess tax benefit from share-based compensation.
Share-Based Compensation Plans
Cooper has several share-based compensation plans that are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018. The
compensation expense and related income tax benefit recognized in our consolidated condensed financial statements for share-based awards were as follows:
Three Months Ended January 31,
($ in millions)

2019

2018

Selling, general and administrative expense

$

$

Cost of sales
Research and development expense
Total share-based compensation expense

9.3
1.5
0.9

10.7
1.3
0.7

$

11.7

$

12.7

Related income tax benefit

$

1.7

$

2.5
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Capital Resources and Liquidity
First Quarter Highlights
•

Operating cash flow was $101.8 million compared to $26.2 million in the prior year period

•

Expenditures for purchases of property, plant and equipment were $79.2 million compared to $51.4 million in the prior year period

•

Cash payments for acquisitions and others, of $50.0 million, compared to $1,193.2 million in the prior year period

Comparative Statistics
($ in millions)

January 31, 2019

Cash and cash equivalents

$
$
$
$
$

Total assets
Working capital
Total debt
Stockholders' equity
Ratio of debt to equity
Debt as a percentage of total capitalization

146.6
6,298.6
254.4
2,132.4
3,425.5
0.62:1
38%

October 31, 2018

$
$
$
$
$

77.7
6,112.8
554.4
2,022.8
3,307.8
0.61:1
38%

Working Capital
The decrease in working capital at January 31, 2019 from the end of fiscal 2018 was primarily due to increase in short-term debt ($408.4 million), primarily
from the $400 million 2018 Term Loan Agreement entered into on November 1, 2018. This was partially offset by increase in cash ($68.9 million), an
increase accounts receivables ($15.0 million) from increased revenue, an increase in inventories ($17.4 million) and a decrease in accounts payable ($16.8
million).
At January 31, 2019, our inventory months on hand were 7.0 compared to 6.3 at October 31, 2018. The $17.4 million increase in inventories was primarily
due to increase in finished goods and raw materials to support product launches and production levels. Our days sales outstanding (DSO) were 56 days at
January 31, 2019, compared to 53 days at October 31, 2018 and 57 days at January 31, 2018. The increase in DSO was primarily due to higher accounts
receivable from increased revenue.
Accounts Receivable Factoring Program - We may factor certain designated trade receivables with one or more third party financial institutions pursuant to a
factoring agreement. These are non-recourse factoring arrangements to assist us in managing operating cash flow and meet the requirements to be accounted
for as sales in accordance with the “Transfers and Servicing” guidance in ASC 860, where the Company’s continuing involvement subsequent to the transfer
is limited to providing certain servicing and collection actions on behalf of the purchasers of the designated trade receivables. See Note 1. General of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
Operating Cash Flow
Cash provided by operating activities increased by $75.6 million from $26.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2018 to $101.8 million in the first quarter of
fiscal 2019. This increase in cash flow provided by operating activities primarily consists of an increase in net income of $225.7 million from a net loss of
$122.5 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2018 to $103.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and an increase of $123.7 million in net cash flow from
changes in operating capital, from $177.0 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2018 to $53.3 million in the first
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quarter of fiscal 2019. This increase is partially offset by a decrease of $276.0 million in non-cash items, from $259.1 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2018
to $(16.9) million in the first quarter of fiscal 2019.
The increase in net income of $225.7 million is primarily due to a $202.0 million provisional tax expense charge related to the 2017 Act which unfavorably
impacted the first quarter of fiscal 2018.
The $123.7 million increase in the net cash flow from changes in operating capital compared to the prior year period is due to a $93.3 million increase in the
net changes in receivables from increased revenue, a $61.8 million increase in the net changes in prepayments and other assets due to a $42.0 million
payment to the U.K. Tax Authorities in prior year period, and a $11.9 million increase in the net changes in accounts payable, partially offset by a $47.8
million decrease in net changes in accrued liabilities.
The $276.0 million decrease from non-cash items compared to the prior year period is due to a $16.8 million release of a fair value adjustment to inventory
acquired mainly from PARAGARD in the prior year period and a decrease of $249.8 million driven by net changes in long term tax liabilities, deferred taxes
and pension.
Investing Cash Flow
Cash used in investing activities decreased by $1,115.4 million to $129.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 from $1,244.6 million in first quarter of
fiscal 2018. This is primarily due to a decrease in payments made for acquisitions in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to the prior year period, largely
due to the acquisition of PARAGARD at $1.1 billion in first quarter of fiscal 2018. The decrease is partially offset by an increase of $27.8 million in capital
expenditures primarily used to invest in the expansion of our manufacturing capacity.
Financing Cash Flow
Cash provided by financing activities decreased by $1,124.2 million to $93.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. The decrease was driven by a $1,526
million decrease of net proceeds from long-term debt primarily due to additional debt taken on to fund the PARAGARD acquisition in prior year period. The
decrease is partially offset by a $402.7 million increase in short-term notes payable, primarily due to $400 million short term loan taken on November 1,
2018. $6.1 million share repurchases were made in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to nil in the first quarter of fiscal 2018.
The 2017 Term Loan Agreement contains customary restrictive covenants, as well as financial covenants that require the Company to maintain a certain
Total Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio (each as defined in the 2017 Term Loan Agreement) consistent with the 2016 Credit Agreement. As
defined, in the 2018 Term Loan Agreement, the 2017 Term Loan Agreement and the 2016 Credit Agreement, we are required to maintain an Interest
Coverage Ratio of at least 3.00 to 1.00, and a Total Leverage Ratio of no higher than 3.75 to 1.00.
At January 31, 2019, we had $859.5 million available under the 2016 Credit Agreement. We are in compliance with our financial covenants including the
Interest Coverage Ratio at 10.70 to 1.00 and the Total Leverage Ratio at 2.25 to 1.00 for the 2018 Term Loan Agreement, the 2017 Term Loan Agreement
and the 2016 Credit Agreement.
Share Repurchase
In December 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the 2012 Share Repurchase Program and through subsequent amendments, the most recent in March
2017, the total repurchase authorization was increased from $500.0 million to $1.0 billion of the Company's common stock. The program has no expiration
date and may be discontinued at any time.
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In the first quarter of fiscal 2019, we repurchased 24.5 thousand shares of our common stock for $6.1 million at an average purchase price of $248.70 per
share. We did not repurchase shares during the first quarter of fiscal 2018. At January 31, 2019, we had remaining authorization to repurchase $557.4 million
of our common stock.
Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies
Information regarding estimates and critical accounting policies is included in Management's Discussion and Analysis on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2018. There have been no material changes in our policies from those previously discussed in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year October 31, 2018,
with the exception of our critical accounting policies related to the adoption of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606) effective
November 1, 2018. See Note 2. Revenue Recognition of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
Accounting Pronouncements
Information regarding new accounting pronouncements is included in Note 1. General of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Trademarks
Aquaform®, Avaira®, Avaira Vitality ®, Biofinity ®, MyDay ® and Proclear® are registered trademarks of The Cooper Companies, Inc., its affiliates and/or
subsidiaries. PC Technology™, FIPS™, and A Quality of Life Company™ are trademarks of The Cooper Companies, Inc., its affiliates and/or subsidiaries.
The clariti ® mark is a registered trademark of The Cooper Companies, Inc., its affiliates and/or subsidiaries worldwide except in the United States where the
use of clariti ® is licensed. PARAGARD® is a registered trademark of CooperSurgical, Inc.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
Most of our operations outside the United States have their local currency as their functional currency. We are exposed to risks caused by changes in foreign
exchange, principally our British pound sterling, euro, Japanese yen, Danish krone, Swedish krona and Australian dollar denominated debt and receivables
denominated in currencies other than the United States dollar, and from operations in other foreign currencies. Although we may enter into foreign exchange
agreements with financial institutions to reduce our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency values relative to our debt or receivables obligations, these
hedging transactions do not eliminate that risk entirely. We are also exposed to risks associated with changes in interest rates, as the interest rates on our
revolving lines of credit and term loans may vary with the federal funds rate and LIBO rate. We may decrease this interest rate risk by hedging a portion of
variable rate debt effectively converting it to fixed rate debt for varying periods. The Company did not have any derivative assets or liabilities that may
include interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps or foreign currency forward contracts as of January 31, 2019 and October 31, 2018.
On November 1, 2018, the Company entered into a 364-day, $400.0 million, senior unsecured term loan agreement by and among the Company, the lenders
party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent which matures on October 31, 2019 (the 2018 Term Loan Agreement). The
Company used the funds to partially repay outstanding borrowings under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility. At January 31, 2019, we had $400.0 million
outstanding under the 2018 Term Loan Agreement.
On November 1, 2017, in connection with the PARAGARD acquisition, we entered into a five-year, $1.425 billion, senior unsecured term loan agreement
(the 2017 Term Loan Agreement) by and among the Company, the lenders party thereto and DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as administrative agent
which matures on November 1, 2022. The Company used part of the facility to fund the PARAGARD acquisition and used the remainder of the funds to
partially repay outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit agreement. At January 31, 2019, we had $1.425 billion outstanding under the 2017 Term
Loan Agreement.
On March 1, 2016, we entered into a syndicated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement (the 2016 Credit Agreement) with KeyBank as administrative
agent. The agreement provides for a multicurrency revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion (the 2016 Revolving Credit
Facility) and a term loan facility in the aggregate principal amount of $830.0 million (the 2016 Term Loan Facility). The 2016 Credit Agreement replaced
our previous credit agreement and funds from the 2016 Term Loan Facility were used to repay the outstanding amounts under the previous credit agreement,
to partially repay our other outstanding term loans and for general corporate purposes. At January 31, 2019, we had $125.0 million outstanding under the
2016 Term Loan Facility and $859.5 million available under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility.
If interest rates were to increase or decrease by 1% or 100 basis points, quarterly interest expense would increase or decrease by approximately $5.3 million
based on average debt outstanding for the first fiscal quarter of 2019.
See Note 6. Debt of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on management’s evaluation (with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (our Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer (our
Principal Financial Officer)), as of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange
Act”)) are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and is accumulated
and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our first quarter of fiscal 2019, that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Since March 2015, over 50 putative class action complaints were filed by contact lens consumers alleging that contact lens manufacturers, in conjunction
with their respective Unilateral Pricing Policy (UPP), conspired to reach agreements between each other and certain distributors and retailers regarding the
prices at which certain contact lenses could be sold to consumers. The plaintiffs are seeking damages against CooperVision, Inc., other contact lens
manufacturers, distributors and retailers, in various courts around the United States. In June 2015, all of the class action cases were consolidated and
transferred to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. In August 2017, CooperVision entered into a settlement agreement with the
plaintiffs, without any admission of liability, to settle all claims against CooperVision. In July 2018, the Court approved the plaintiffs’ motion for
preliminary approval of the settlement, and the Company paid the $3.0 million settlement amount into an escrow account. The settlement remains subject to
final Court approval at a future hearing to be set by the Court.
The Company is involved in various lawsuits, claims and other legal matters from time to time that arise in the ordinary course of conducting business,
including matters involving our products, intellectual property, supplier relationships, distributors, competitor relationships, employees and other matters.
The Company does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these proceedings or claims pending against it could have a material adverse effect on its
financial condition or results of operations. At each reporting period, the Company evaluates whether or not a potential loss amount or a potential range of
loss is probable and reasonably estimable under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 450,
Contingencies. Legal fees are expensed as incurred.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risk factors describing the major risks to our business can be found under Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2018. There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those previously discussed in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year October 31,
2018.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The Company's share repurchase activity during the three-month period ended January 31, 2019, was as follows:

Period

11/1/18 - 11/30/18
12/1/18 - 12/31/18
01/1/19 - 01/31/19
Total

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Average
Price Paid
Per Share

Maximum Approximate
Dollar Value of Shares
that May Yet Be
Purchased Under
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs

—
—
24,500

$
$
$

—
—
248.70

—
—
24,500

24,500

$

248.70

24,500

$
$
$

563,500,000
563,500,000
557,400,000

The transactions described in the table above represent the repurchase of the Company’s common stock on the New York Stock Exchange as part of the share
repurchase program approved by the Company’s Board of Directors in December 2011 (the 2012 Share Repurchase Program). The program as amended in
December 2012, December 2013 and March 2017 provides authorization to repurchase up to a total of $1.0 billion of the Company's common stock.
Purchases under the 2012 Share Repurchase Program may be made from time-to-time on the open market at prevailing market prices or in privately
negotiated transactions and are subject to a review of the circumstances in place at the time and will be made from time to time as permitted by securities laws
and other legal requirements. This program has no expiration date and may be discontinued at any time.
At January 31, 2019, approximately $557.4 million remained authorized under the 2012 Share Repurchase Program.
38

Table of Contents
THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

Description

10.1

Amendment No. 1 to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated March 1, 2016, entered on January 31, 2019, among The
Cooper Companies, Inc., CooperVision International Holding Company, LP, CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V., CooperVision
Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L., the lenders from time to time party thereto and KeyBank National Association, as administrative
agent

31.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

31.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

32.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

32.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

101.1

The following materials from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months period ended January 31, 2019,
formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Statements of Income for the three months ended
January 31, 2019 and 2018, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three months ended January 31,
2019 and 2018, (iii) Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets at January 31, 2019 and October 31, 2018, (iv) Consolidated Condensed
Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018 and (v) related notes to consolidated condensed
financial statements.
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
The Cooper Companies, Inc.
(Registrant)
Date: March 6, 2019

/s/ Brian G. Andrews
Brian G. Andrews
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 6, 2019

/s/ Agostino Ricupati
Agostino Ricupati
Chief Accounting Officer & Senior Vice President, Finance & Tax (Principal
Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

JOINDER AND AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AND TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
This AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AND TERM LOAN AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment”) is entered into
as of January 31, 2019 among (i) THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), (ii) COOPERVISION
INTERNATIONAL HOLDING COMPANY, LP, an entity organized under the laws of England and Wales and registered in Barbados
as an External Company under the laws of Barbados (“CooperVision International”, and together with the Company, the “Existing
Borrowers”), (iii) COOPERSURGICAL NETHERLANDS B.V., a Netherlands private company with limited liability ( besloten
vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) (“Cooper Netherlands”), (iv) COOPERVISION MANUFACTURING COSTA RICA,
S.R.L., a Costa Rican limited liability company (“Cooper Costa Rica”), (v) the Lenders (defined below) executing signatures page
hereto, and (vi) KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as the administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”).
RECITALS:
A.
WHEREAS, the Existing Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the lenders party thereto (each, a “ Lender” and
collectively, the “Lenders”) are parties to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2016 (as amended,
restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”);
B.
WHEREAS, the Existing Borrowers have requested that the Credit Agreement be modified to allow for additional
Revolving Borrowers thereunder; and
C.
WHEREAS, in connection with the foregoing, the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders party hereto,
which constitute the Required Lenders, desire to amend the Credit Agreement to modify certain provisions thereof.
AGREEMENT:
In consideration of the premises and mutual covenants herein and for other valuable consideration, the Borrowers, the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders party hereto agree as follows:
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Section 1.
Definitions. Unless otherwise defined herein, each capitalized term used in this Amendment and not
defined herein shall be defined in accordance with the Credit Agreement.
Section 2. Amendment to Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement. Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to
add the following new definitions thereto in appropriate alphabetical order:
“Additional Revolving Borrower” means any Revolving Borrower that becomes a Borrower hereunder on or after the
Amendment No. 1 Effective Date pursuant to Section 2.21 hereof.
“Additional Revolving Borrower Joinder Agreement” means a joinder to this Agreement executed pursuant to Section
2.21 hereof in a form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and executed by the Administrative Agent, the
Company and the Additional Revolving Borrower(s) becoming a party to this Agreement.
“Amendment No. 1” means Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement among the
Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders party thereto dated as of the Amendment No. 1 Effective Date.
“Amendment No. 1 Effective Date” means January 31, 2019.
“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial
Ownership Regulation.
“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.
“Cooper Costa Rica” means CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L., a Costa Rican limited liability company.
“Cooper Netherlands” means CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V., a Netherlands private company with limited liability
(besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid).
Section 3. Amendment to Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement. Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to
amend and restate the definition of “Revolving Borrowers” in its entirety as follows:
“Revolving Borrowers” means, collectively, (a) the Company, (b) CooperVision International, (c) Cooper Netherlands,
(d) Cooper Costa Rica and (e) any other Additional Revolving Borrower, and “ Revolving Borrower” means each of them
individually.
Section 4. Amendment to Article I of the Credit Agreement . Article I of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the
following new Section 1.06 immediately following Section 1.05 thereof:
Section 1.06
to:
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Dutch Terms. In this Agreement, where it relates to an entity incorporated in the Netherlands, a reference

(i) a “director” means a managing director (bestuurder) and “board of directors” means its managing board (bestuur);
(ii) an “action to authorize” or “duly authorized”, where applicable, includes without limitation any action required to
comply with the Dutch Works Council Act (Wet op de ondernemingsraden);
(iii) any “proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law”, “bankruptcy”, “insolvency”, or “dissolution” includes a
Dutch entity being declared bankrupt (failliet verklaard) or dissolved (ontbonden);
(iv) “bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar proceeding” or “liquidation proceeding” (or words of similar
import) includes an application for moratorium (surseance van betaling) and the appointment of a receiver, liquidator,
custodian, trustee includes the appointment of an administrator and that a moratorium has been granted (surseance verleend);
(v) any procedure or step taken in connection with an insolvency proceeding includes such Dutch entity having filed a
notice under Section 36 of the Tax Collection Act of the Netherlands ( Invorderingswet 1990 ) or Section 60 of the Social
Insurance Financing Act of the Netherlands (Wet Financiering Sociale Verzekeringen) in conjunction with Section 36 of the Tax
Collection Act of the Netherlands (Invorderingswet 1990);
(vi) a “trustee” in any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding includes a curator;
(vii) an “administrator” includes a bewindvoerder;
(viii) an “attachment” includes a beslag;
(ix) “gross negligence” means grove schuld;
(x) “indemnify” means vrijwaren;
(xi) “negligence” means schuld;
(xii) “bad faith” means kwade trouw; and
(xiii) “willful misconduct” means opzet.
Section 5.
Amendment to Section 2.02(b) of the Credit Agreement. Section 2.02(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby
amended by deleting the last sentence of such Section and replacing it with the following:
Each Lender at its option may make any Loan by causing any domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such Lender to make
such Loan; provided that any exercise of such option shall not affect the obligation of the applicable Borrower to repay such
Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
Section 6. Addition of Section 2.21 to the Credit Agreement. Article II of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the
following new Section 2.21 thereto immediately following Section 2.20 of the Credit Agreement:
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Section 2.21

Designation of Additional Revolving Borrowers.

(a) Designation. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 2.21, the Company may, at any time or from time
to time on or after the Amendment No. 1 Effective Date, upon not less than 5 Business Days’ notice (or such shorter period
which is reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent) to the Administrative Agent (which shall promptly notify the
Lenders thereof), request the designation of a wholly-owned Subsidiary as an Additional Revolving Borrower hereunder,
provided that subject to the satisfaction of the applicable conditions precedent set forth in Amendment No. 1, Cooper
Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica have each been designated as an Additional Revolving Borrower as of the Amendment No.
1 Effective Date. Each such notice shall specify (A) the name of the applicable Subsidiary and (B) its jurisdiction of
organization.
( b ) Effect of Designation. Upon the satisfaction of the conditions specified in paragraph (c) of this Section 2.21, the
applicable designated Additional Revolving Borrower shall become a party to this Agreement as a Revolving Borrower and a
Borrower hereunder and, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, such Additional Revolving Borrower shall be
entitled to borrow Revolving Loans or request the issuance of Letters of Credit hereunder (and, in each case, such Additional
Revolving Borrower shall have and shall assume all of the obligations of a Borrower hereunder). The Administrative Agent
shall promptly notify the Lenders of the effectiveness of any such designation.
( c ) Conditions to Designation. The designation by the Company of any Subsidiary as an Additional Revolving
Borrower hereunder shall be subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions (including delivery to the Administrative
Agent of the following documents, each of which shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent in form and
substance or may be waived by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion) and such designation shall become effective on
the date on which all such conditions are satisfied (or so waived):
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(A)

immediately prior to and after giving effect to such designation, no Default shall have occurred and be
continuing;

(B)

in the case of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica, each Existing Borrower and each such
Additional Revolving Borrower shall have executed Amendment No. 1 and in the case of any Additional
Revolving Borrower becoming a party hereto after the Amendment No. 1 Effective Date, the
Administrative Agent shall have received an Additional Revolving Borrower Joinder Agreement, duly
completed and executed by the Company, such Additional Revolving Borrower and the Administrative
Agent;

(D)

the Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Company to the
effect that the conditions to such designation set forth in this Section 2.21 shall be satisfied;

(E)

the Administrative Agent shall have received such proof of corporate or other action, incumbency of
officers, legal opinion and other documents as are consistent with those delivered by the Borrowers
pursuant to Section 4.01 on the Closing Date as the Administrative Agent shall reasonably request, all in
form, content and scope substantially consistent with those delivered by the Borrowers on the Closing
Date; and

(F)

to the extent requested by the Administrative Agent or any Lender at least three (3) Business Days in
advance of the effectiveness of such designation, the Administrative Agent or such Lender shall have
received all documentation and other information with respect to such Subsidiary required by regulatory
authorities under applicable Sanctions Laws and Regulations or the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

(d ) Inability to Lend. If (a) by reason of the fact that any Additional Revolving Borrower is organized in, or conducts
business in, a jurisdiction outside the United States (including, for purposes of this Section 2.21(d), Puerto Rico) (other than the
Netherlands or Costa Rica), it is unlawful, in the sole determination of any Lender, for such Lender (or its applicable lending
office) to make or maintain Loans to such Additional Revolving Borrower or (b) on or after the date hereof, it becomes unlawful
for any Lender (or its applicable lending office) to perform any of its obligations as contemplated by this Agreement or make,
maintain or fund any of its Loans to any Additional Revolving Borrower, and such Lender shall so notify the Administrative
Agent, the Administrative Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to the other Lenders and the Company, whereupon until
such Lender notifies the Company and the Administrative Agent that the circumstances giving rise to such suspension no longer
exist, the obligation of such Lender to make or maintain Loans to such Additional Revolving Borrower shall be suspended.
Section 7. Amendment to Section 5.02 of the Credit Agreement. Section 5.02 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
(i) deleting the “and” at the end of clause (c) thereof, (ii) deleting the “.” at the end of clause (d) thereof and replacing it with “; and”,
and (iii) adding the following new clause (e) immediately following clause (d) thereof:
(e)
solely to the extent that any Borrower qualifies as a “legal entity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership
Regulation, any change in the information provided in any Beneficial Ownership Certification that would result in a change to
the list of beneficial owners identified in parts (c) or (d) of such certification.
Section 8. Amendment to Section 6.02 of the Credit Agreement. Section 6.02(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by deleting each reference to “CooperVision International” and replacing it with “any Borrower”.
Section 9. Amendment to Section 9.01 of the Credit Agreement. Section 9.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
deleting each reference to “CooperVision International” and replacing it with “any Borrower (other than the Company)”.
Section 10. Amendment to Section 10.18 of the Credit Agreement. Section 10.18 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
and restated in its entirety to read as follows:
Section 10.18 Several Liability of CooperVision International and Additional Revolving Borrowers. Notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement or any other Loan Document to the contrary, the Obligations of (x) CooperVision International
hereunder and (y) each Additional Revolving Borrower, in each case, shall be several (and not joint) and each of CooperVision
International and each Additional Revolving Borrower shall only be liable for any Loans and any other Obligations incurred
directly by it and shall not be liable for any of the Obligations of the Company or any other Loan Party hereunder. The
foregoing shall not in any way limit the guaranty obligations of the Company pursuant to Article IX hereof or the guaranty
obligations of any Subsidiary Guarantor under the Subsidiary Guaranty.
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Section 11.
Joinder. Subject to the effectiveness of this Amendment pursuant to Section 12 of this Amendment and the
satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 13 of this Amendment, each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica
hereby acknowledges, agrees and confirms that, by its execution of this Amendment, it shall become an Additional Revolving
Borrower under the Credit Agreement in accordance with Section 2.21 of the Credit Agreement (as amended by this Amendment) and
shall be fully bound by, and subject to, all of the covenants, terms, obligations (including, without limitation, all payment obligations)
and conditions of the Credit Agreement applicable to a “Revolving Borrower,” “Borrower,” or a “Loan Party” as though originally
party thereto as a “Revolving Borrower,” “Borrower” and a “Loan Party”, and each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica shall
be deemed a “Revolving Borrower,” a “Borrower” and a “Loan Party” for all purposes of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan
Documents from and after the date hereof. By its signature below, each Existing Borrower and each Subsidiary Guarantor, each Lender
party hereto and the Administrative Agent hereby agree and consent to each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica becoming
bound by, and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement as provided herein, and agree and acknowledge that each
of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement provided therein, in
each case as fully and the same as if Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica were originally party thereto as a “Revolving
Borrower,” “Borrower” and a “Loan Party”. Each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica acknowledges and confirms that it has
received a copy of the Credit Agreement, this Amendment, the other Loan Documents and all exhibits, annexes and schedules thereto
and has reviewed and understands all of the terms and provisions thereof.
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Section 12. Effectiveness of Amendment. This Amendment shall be effective on the date upon which each of the following
conditions precedent has been satisfied (the “Effective Date”):
(a) This Amendment shall have been executed by the Existing Borrowers, Cooper Netherlands, Cooper Costa Rica,
each Subsidiary Guarantor, the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders, and counterparts hereof as so executed shall
have been delivered to the Administrative Agent.
(b) The Administrative Agent shall have received all documented out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable fees
and disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent, to the extent invoiced on or prior to the Effective Date) in connection
with the preparation, negotiation and effectiveness of this Amendment and the other documents being executed or delivered in
connection herewith.
For all purposes of this Amendment, the modifications set forth in Sections 2 through 10 of this Amendment shall be deemed
effective on the Effective Date upon satisfaction of the foregoing conditions precedent and shall be deemed effective immediately prior
to the joinders contemplated pursuant to Section 11 of this Amendment.
Section 13.
Effectiveness of Joinder. The joinder of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica as Additional Revolving
Borrowers pursuant to Section 11 of this Amendment shall be effective on the date upon which each of the following conditions
precedent has been satisfied:
(a)

The conditions precedent set forth in Section 12 of this Amendment shall have been satisfied.

(b) The Administrative Agent (or its counsel) shall have received from each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa
Rica duly executed Notes in favor of each Lender requesting a Note at least three (3) Business Days prior to the Effective Date.
(c) The Administrative Agent shall have received (i) a certificate of each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa
Rica, dated the Effective Date and executed by its Secretary, Assistant Secretary, appointed Manager, or other authorized
signatory, as applicable, which shall (A) certify the resolutions of its Board of Directors, members or other governing body
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment, (B) identify by name and title and bear the signatures
of the officers authorized to sign this Amendment and any other Loan Document, (C) contain appropriate attachments,
including the certificate or articles of incorporation or organization certified by the relevant authority of the jurisdiction of
organization and a true and correct copy of its by‑laws or operating, management or partnership agreement, or other
organizational or governing documents and (D) for Cooper Netherlands, attach and certify as true and correct and in full force
and effect: (a) its deed of incorporation (oprichtingsakte) and if amended after incorporation, its articles of association
(statuten), (b) an up-to-date certified (gewaarmerkt) extract of the Dutch Chamber of Commerce (Kamer van Koophandel)
dated no later than 3 Business Days prior to the Effective Date, and (c) if required by applicable law or its articles of association:
a copy of a signed, unconditional and positive advice from each relevant works council (ondernemingsraad) or central or
European works council of Cooper Netherlands approving the terms of, and the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement
and the Loan Documents to which Cooper Netherlands will become party, together with the signed request for advice, and (ii) a
good standing certificate for Cooper Costa Rica as of a recent date from its jurisdiction of organization or the substantive
equivalent available in its jurisdiction of organization from the appropriate governmental officer in such jurisdiction.
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(d) The Administrative Agent shall have received a favorable written opinion (addressed to the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders and dated the Effective Date) of (a) Latham & Watkins LLP, counsel for the Borrowers and the other Loan
Parties, and (b) applicable local counsel for each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica, in each case, in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent. The Borrowers hereby request each such counsel to deliver such
opinion.
(e)
The Administrative Agent shall have received a properly completed and signed IRS Form W-8 or W-9, as
applicable, for each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica.
(f) The Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall have received all documentation and other information required by
bank regulatory authorities under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including
the USA PATRIOT Act, for each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper Costa Rica and, if any Loan Party qualifies as a “legal
entity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, a Beneficial Ownership Certification in relation to such entity, all
to the extent requested at least three (3) Business Days prior to the Effective Date.
Section 14.
Representations and Warranties. Each Borrower (which shall include each of Cooper Netherlands and Cooper
Costa Rica) and each Subsidiary Guarantor, by signing below, hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders that:
(a)
each Borrower and each Subsidiary Guarantor has the legal power and authority to execute and deliver this
Amendment;
(b) the officers executing this Amendment on behalf of each Borrower and each Subsidiary Guarantor have been duly
authorized to execute and deliver the same and bind such Borrower or such Subsidiary Guarantor with respect to the provisions
hereof;
(c)
no Default or Event of Default exists under the Credit Agreement, nor will any occur immediately after the
execution and delivery of this Amendment;
(d)
this Amendment constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement and obligation of the Borrowers and each
Subsidiary Guarantor, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws generally affecting creditors’
rights and by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law);
(e) the information included in each Beneficial Ownership Certification provided by the Borrowers is true and correct
in all respects; and
(f) each of the representations and warranties set forth in Article III of the Credit Agreement is true and correct in all
material respects as of the date hereof, except to the extent that any thereof expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such
representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of the date when made.
Section 15. Credit Agreement Unaffected . Each reference to the Credit Agreement in any Loan Document shall hereafter be
construed as a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby. Except as herein otherwise specifically provided, all provisions of
the Credit Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and be unaffected hereby. This Amendment shall be a Loan Document.
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Section 16.
(a)

Subsidiary Guarantor Acknowledgment. Each Subsidiary Guarantor, by signing this Amendment:
consents and agrees to and acknowledges the terms of this Amendment;

(b)
acknowledges and agrees that all of the Loan Documents to which such Subsidiary Guarantor is a party or is
otherwise bound shall continue in full force and effect and that all of such Subsidiary Guarantor’s obligations thereunder shall
be valid and enforceable and shall not be impaired or limited by the execution or effectiveness of this Amendment; and
(c) acknowledges and agrees that (i) notwithstanding the conditions to effectiveness set forth in this Amendment, such
Subsidiary Guarantor is not required by the terms of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document to which such
Subsidiary Guarantor is a party to consent to the amendments to the Credit Agreement effected pursuant to this Amendment and
(ii) nothing in the Credit Agreement, this Amendment or any other Loan Document shall be deemed to require the consent of
such Subsidiary Guarantor to any future amendments or modifications to the Credit Agreement.
Section 17.
Entire Agreement. This Amendment, together with the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
integrates all the terms and conditions mentioned herein or incidental hereto and supersedes all oral representations and negotiations
and prior writings with respect to the subject matter hereof.
Section 18.
Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, by different parties hereto in
separate counterparts and by facsimile signature, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and
all of which taken together shall constitute but one and the same agreement.
Section 19.
Governing Law. THIS AMENDMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND THE RIGHTS AND
OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER AND THEREUNDER SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND
BE GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE
BORROWERS HEREBY UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY CLAIM TO ASSERT THAT THE LAW OF
ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE STATE OF NEW YORK GOVERNS THIS AMENDMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER
LOAN DOCUMENTS.
Section 20.
Jurisdiction. EACH BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS, FOR
ITSELF AND ITS PROPERTY, TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY, BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, AND OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FROM ANY THEREOF, IN ANY ACTION OR
PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT, OR FOR
RECOGNITION OR ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE
HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH NEW YORK STATE OR, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL
COURT. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING
SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY
OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW. NOTHING IN THIS AMENDMENT
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SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT THAT THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, THE ISSUING BANK OR ANY LENDER MAY
OTHERWISE HAVE TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER
LOAN DOCUMENTS AGAINST ANY BORROWER OR ITS PROPERTIES IN THE COURTS OF ANY JURISDICTION.
Section 21.
JURY TRIAL WAIVER . EACH OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AMENDMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION,
ANY AMENDMENTS, WAIVERS OR OTHER MODIFICATIONS RELATING TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING), OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.
[Signature pages follow.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.
THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC., as an Existing Borrower
By:___________/s/ Randal L. Golden_____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary
COOPERVISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDING COMPANY, LP, as
an Existing Borrower
By: COOPER HOLDING COMPANY LLC
as General Partner
By:___________/s/ Randal L. Golden____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Manager
COOPERSURGICAL NETHERLANDS B.V., as an Additional
Revolving Borrower
By:___________/s/ Randal L. Golden_____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Managing Director B
COOPERVISION MANUFACTURING COSTA RICA, S.R.L., as an
Additional Revolving Borrower
By:___________/s/ Randal L. Golden_____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Manager
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC., as an Existing Borrower
By:______________________________________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary
COOPERVISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDING COMPANY,
LP, as an Existing Borrower
By: COOPER HOLDING COMPANY LLC
as General Partner
By:______________________________________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Manager
COOPERSURGICAL NETHERLANDS B.V., as an Additional
Revolving Borrower
By:_____/s/ E.J.F. Langemeijer__/s/ AMC van Zuilen
Name: E.J.F. Langemeijer AMC van Zuilen
Title: Director A
COOPERVISION MANUFACTURING COSTA RICA, S.R.L.,
as an Additional Revolving Borrower
By:______________________________________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Manager
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KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as the Administrative Agent and a Lender
By:_____/s/ Marianne T. Meil ________________
Name: Marianne T. Meil
Title: Senior Vice President
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Each of the undersigned Subsidiary
Guarantors acknowledges the terms of and
consents to the foregoing:
COOPERVISION, INC.
By:______/s/ Randal L. Golden_____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary

COOPERSURGICAL, INC.
By:______/s/ Randal L. Golden_____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary
COOPER MEDICAL, INC.
By:______/s/ Randal L. Golden_____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary
ORIGIO, INC.
By:______/s/ Randal L. Golden_____________
Name: Randal L. Golden
Title: Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: Bank of America, N.A.
By: :_______/s/ Sebastian Lurie___________
Name: Sebastian Lurie
Title: SVP
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: Bank of the West
By: :_______/s/ Adriana Collins ___________
Name: Adriana Collins
Title: Director
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: Branch Banking and Trust Company,
By:_______/s/ Erron Powers___________
Name: Erron Powers
Title: Senior Vice President
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: CITIBANK, N.A.
By:_______/s/ Eugene Yermash ___________
Name: Eugene Yermash
Title: Vice President
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: Citizens Bank, N.A.
By:_______/s/ Mark Guyeski ___________
Name: Mark Guyeski
Title: Vice President
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: DNB Capital LLC
By: /s/ Kristie Li /s/ Kristi Birkeland Sorensen
Name: Kristie Li Kristi Birkeland Sorensen
Title: Senior Vice Senior Vice
President President
Head of Corporate
Banking
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: JPMorgan Chase, N.A.
By:_______/s/ Lynn Braun__________
Name: Lynn Braun
Title: Executive Director
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: KBC Bank N.V., New York Branch
By:_______/s/ Nicholas Fiore___________
Name: Nicholas Fiore
Title: Director

By:_______/s/ Susan M. Silver___________
Name: Susan M. Silver
Title: Managing Director
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc
By: /s/ Enn Walsh
Name: Enn Walsh
Title: Assistant Vice President
Transaction Execution
Category A
W004

By: /s/ Daven Popat
Name: Daven Popat
Title: Senior Vice President
Transaction Execution
Category A
P003
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
By:_______/s/ Kenneth J. Beck__________
Name: Kenneth J. Beck
Title: Director

NAI-1506002948

Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: PNC Bank, National Association
By:_______/s/ Jennifer L. Shafer__________
Name: Jennifer L. Shafer
Title: Vice President
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: REGIONS BANK
By:_______/s/ Ned Spitzer___________
Name: Ned Spitzer
Title: Managing Director
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: TD Bank, N.A.
By:_______/s/ Shreya Shah___________
Name: Shreya Shah
Title: Senior Vice President
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By:_______/s/ Tom Priedman___________
Name: Tom Priedman
Title: Vice President
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Signature Page to
Joinder and Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement,
dated as of the date first above written,
among The Cooper Companies, Inc. and CooperVision International Holding Company, LP,
as the Existing Borrowers,
CooperSurgical Netherlands B.V. and CooperVision Manufacturing Costa Rica, S.R.L.,
as the Joining Borrowers
KeyBank National Association, as the Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party thereto

Name of Institution: Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
By:_______/s/ Andrea S Chen__________
Name: Andrea S Chen
Title: Managing Director
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Albert G. White III, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The Cooper Companies, Inc. (the “registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 6, 2019
/s/ Albert G. White III
Albert G. White III
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Brian G. Andrews, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The Cooper Companies, Inc. (the “registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 6, 2019
/s/ Brian G. Andrews
Brian G. Andrews
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Albert G. White III, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
•

the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Cooper Companies, Inc. (the "Company") for the quarterly period ended January 31,
2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

•

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 6, 2019

/s/ Albert G. White III
Albert G. White III
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Brian G. Andrews, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
•

the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Cooper Companies, Inc. (the "Company") for the quarterly period ended January 31,
2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

•

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 6, 2019

/s/ Brian G. Andrews
Brian G. Andrews
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

